City of Geneva, Illinois

Local Historic District & Landmarks
Property Inventory Survey

GENERAL PROPERTY INFORMATION:

PROPERTY ADDRESS:

224-226-228 West State Street

PARCEL IDENTIFICATION NUMBER (PIN):

12-03-414-001

HISTORIC NAME: Worsley Block / Wheeler Building

COMMON NAME: Hotel Geneva / Sounds Like Music

DATE OF CONSTRUCTION: Circa 1855-1865

SIGNIFICANT ALTERATION DATES: 1926, 1928 (Rear Addition)

ARCHITECT:

BUILDER: Worsley, Timothy

WILSON BROTHERS: [ AUGUST [ OSCAR [1BOTH

ARCHITECTURAL DATA:

ARCHITECTURAL STYLE: Two-Part Commercial Block; Greek Revival

OVERALL PLAN SHAPE: Complex, Back Facing Rectangle

LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE RATING:

NUMBER OF STORIES: 3

[ ] significant

FOUNDATION MATERIAL: Not Visible

E Contributing

PRIMARY WALL MATERIAL(S): Brick

|:| Non-Contributing — Built After 1987

|:| Non-Contributing — Reversible Alterations

FRONT PORCH: N/A

|:| Non-Contributing — Irreversible Alterations

VISIBLE SIDE PORCH: N/A

HISTORIC DISTRICT LOCATION:

ENTRY DOOR(S): Wood

IE Central Geneva NRHD

WINDOW MATERIAL: Wood; Vinyl

|:| North Geneva NRHD

WINDOW STYLE: Double Hung, 1/1, 9/9; Picture with 3-It transom

|E| Local Geneva HD

PRIMARY ROOF FORM: Flat

|:| Not in HD / Individual Historic Landmark

PRIMARY ROOF MATERIAL: Unknown

NR DISTRICT SIGNIFICANCE RATING:

VISIBLE CHIMNEY: No

|E| Contributing

|:| Non-Contributing

CHIMNEY MATERIAL: N/A

|:| Not Applicable / Not in NR District

OTHER SIGNIFICANT ARCHITECTURAL FEATURES:

HPC ACTION:

|:| Demolition Approved:

Other HPC Action:




City of Geneva, Illinois

Local Historic District & Landmarks
Property Inventory Survey

ADDITIONAL PROPERTY INFORMATION:

PROPERTY ADDRESS:

224-226-228 West State Street

BRIEF HISTORICAL DESCRIPTION:

The Worsely Block is the oldest, surviving , brick commercial building
within the Geneva Historic District, dating to circa 1867. Only the two,
easternmost sections of the proposed structure (as depicted on the
title page of the 1872 Kane County Atlas (Thompson & Everts, 1872)
were completed.

Born in Rhode Island, Timothy Worsley (1811-1881) purchased land
in Kane County as early as 1843 but did not arrived in Geneva until
after 1860. Timothy Worley and his first wife, Elsah "Elsie" Hastings
(1808-1873) were married in 1831. By 1855, the couple and their
surviving daughter, Emily Frances, were living in Batavia Township,
Kane Co., lllinois, where the couple buried 4 other children between
1846 and 1853. By 1860, Mr. and Mrs. Worsley were enumerated at
Kaneville, lllinois. By 1864, Worsley established--at Geneva,
lllinois--a "mercantile store," where he sold groceries and liquor
(likely at this location near the corner of State and Third streets).

SOURCES:

GHPC Case Studies; GHM Archives; 2016 Central Geneva NRHP Update; Sanborn
Fire Insurance Maps; Kane County Land Records; Geneva, lllinois: A History of Its
Times and Places; Geneva, lllinois: 150 Reminders of 150 Years. Census Data

CONTRIBUTING ACCESSORY STRUCTURES:

AS1 GENERAL DESCRIPTION:

AS2 GENERAL DESCRIPTION:

CONTRIBUTING LANDSCAPE FEATURES:

GENERAL DESCRIPTION:

1999
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	BRIEF HISTORICAL DESCRIPTION: The Worsely Block is the oldest, surviving , brick commercial building within the Geneva Historic District, dating to circa 1867. Only the two, easternmost sections of the proposed structure (as depicted on the title page of the 1872 Kane County Atlas (Thompson & Everts, 1872)were completed. 

Born in Rhode Island, Timothy Worsley (1811-1881) purchased land in Kane County as early as 1843 but did not arrived in Geneva until after 1860. Timothy Worley and his first wife, Elsah "Elsie" Hastings (1808-1873) were married in 1831. By 1855, the couple and their surviving daughter, Emily Frances, were living in Batavia Township, Kane Co., Illinois, where the couple buried 4 other children between 1846 and 1853. By 1860, Mr. and Mrs. Worsley were enumerated at Kaneville, Illinois. By 1864, Worsley established--at Geneva, Illinois--a "mercantile store," where he sold groceries and liquor (likely at this location near the corner of State and Third streets). 

In 1866, plans for the new building were announced to replace the earlier Worsley store building. Worsley relocated to "West St. Charles, Illinois" during 1867, presumably while the new, brick building was erected at Geneva. During that time, the Masons returned to their former quarters in the Patten Building. The new, 3 story, brick building opened in 1868, providing space for several entities: Worsley operated a grocery store in one of the 2 storefronts until about 1874; Thompson & Everts, map makers (1866-1872) occupied rooms at the second floor until Everts left Geneva to form a new partnership at Chicago (Everts, Baskin & Stewart); and the Masons occupied the third floor. 

In 1872  Walter D. Turner announced the remodeling of the Worsley Block building as a new "first class hotel" with 5 suites on the second floor and 16 private rooms on the third floor. The hotel operations were sold to George Hyatt, who opened the Hyatt House hotel on December 31, 1872 with a  grand ball. 

In 1873, Timothy Worsely's wife, Elsie, died. He married Abigail Parker in 1875 and, apparently, retired a short time later. He died in 1881 and is buried in the East Batavia Cemetery. In 1887, Abigail Parker Worsley (1829-1909) married Newell Jones (1818-1905) and returned to New York state where she had been born. Until 1892, the building remained under the ownership of Emily Frances (Worsley) Foster of Millington and Newark (Kendall County), Illinois.

In 1892, the building was sold to Patrick Riley and, later, to Michael Wheeler, who remodeled and enlarged the building between 1905 and 1908. New cast iron storefronts by Love Bros. Foundry (Aurora, Illinois) were installed, and E. E. Belden of West Chicago made masonry repairs and alterations. Also, Mr. Wheeler constructed a one story brick addition at the west side of the building (See: 230 W. State Street) as new quarters for the Ekdahl & Skoglund store that had occupied a storefront in the original Worsley Block. (27 March 1905 Geneva Republican). New plate glass windows installed in 1908 by landlord Michael Wheeler. (07 March 1908 Geneva Republican)

The property was sold to H. B. Fargo in 1923, who sold it to Oscar Nelson the following year. Nelson formed the Hotel Building Corporation and remodeled the building (including the construction of 230 W. State Street) and named the building Hotel Geneva. In 1924, Nelson--who was partners in the Hotel Abraham Lincoln at Springfield, Illinois that opened in 1925--announced plans to build a 3-story wing (230 W. State) and, then, demolish the original hotel (Worsley Block) and replace it with a new hotel. In 1924, John Ellis and Sam Coulos, who had operated the Geneva Cafe since 1919, took over the lease of the Hotel Geneva. In 1926, the hotel and restaurant were under the management of Mr. Broglund but was, again,under the control of Ellis and Coulos by 1928. The proposed addition (230 W. State Street) proceeded in 1928 and was completed in August 1928 by the Wilson Bros. contractors. Then, an earlier addition at the rear of the Worsley Block was demolished in November 1928 and excavation of a new foundation for a 3-story addition was begun. (07 December 1928 Geneva Republican). The rear addition was completed shortly before the Stock Market Crash of 1929; the proposed refacing of the State Street facade to match the west addition (230 W. State Street) was never initiated.

In 1937, the property was sold to Dr. P. Clifford and May (Downey) Fletcher; the hotel and restaurant was managed by Mrs. Fletcher, who continued management as late as 1988. During her  tenure, the hotel restaurant operated as the Betsy Ross Tea Room and as Jack Edwards' restaurant. The last hotel guests checked out in May 1992.

By 1993, no restaurant operated in the building, and the hotel rooms were rented to short-term residents.
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